FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/26/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102023-6

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/25/2023 4:40 PM

NO. 83831-8-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MOHAMMAD HAMID VIDA, an individual,

Appellant,

V.

YONG PARK and SANG PARK, husband and wife,
Respondents.

## RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT

Theresa H. Rava, WSBA #53159 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101

Telephone: (206) 628-6600

Email: trava@williamskastner.com

Dean G. von Kallenbach, WSBA #12870

DVK LAW, P.S. P.O. Box 1362

Sequim, WA 98382

# I. STATEMENT OF THE NAME AND IDENTITY OF THE PERSON FILING THE CASE

The identity of the persons filing this Petition for Review are the Respondents Yong Park and Sang Park (collectively "Park").

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Parks seek review of Division I of the Court of Appeals' ("COA") March 27, 2023 Unpublished Opinion ("Opinion)" and its April 25, 2023 Order Denying Parks' Motion for Reconsideration.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Petition for Review presents the following issues for review:

1. RAP 13.4(b)(2) states that "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: ... (2) If the decision

of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.<sup>1</sup>

In its Opinion, the Court held that the date of mailing stated in a *pro se* litigant's unsworn Attorney's Certificate of Mailing controls over the date stated in a United States Postal Service postmark.<sup>2</sup> The Court's ruling conflicts with the COA's published decision in *Corona v. Boeing Co.*, where the COA held that "only a United States Postal Service postmark can be evidence of when an envelope was mailed."<sup>3</sup>

Park requests the Court to accept review of this case and determine whether the date of mailing stated in an Attorney's Certificate of Mailing or in a Certificate of Service controls over the date of mailing contained in a United States Postal Service postmark.

<sup>1</sup> WA RAP 13.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> COA's March 27, 2023 Opinion ("Opinion"), pg. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Corona v. Boeing Co., 111 Wn. App. 1, 6–7, 46 P.3d 253, 256 (2002) (emphasis added).

2. The COA held in its Opinion that that the date of mailing in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing, filed by a *pro se* litigant, is presumed correct. More importantly, the COA said that this "presumption cannot be rebutted" and "[n]o evidence presented could refute this presumption." A "conclusive presumption," or "irrebuttable presumption," is "[a] presumption that cannot be overcome by any additional evidence or argument because it is accepted as irrefutable proof that establishes a fact beyond dispute." The COA did not cite any legal authority to support this "conclusive presumption."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> COA, pgs. 6-7, (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State Construction, Inc. v. City of Sammamish 11 Wn. App.2d 1068, fn. 8 (2020) (unpublished) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 1435 (11th ed. 2019)). Examples of cases recognizing conclusive presumptions include: Carey v. Reeve, 56 Wn. App. 18, 24 n.3, 781 P.2d 904 (1989) (conclusive presumption that child under age six is incapable of intending to harm others); Chapman v. Crawford, 38 Wn. App. 301, 685 P.2d 1104 (1984) (conclusive presumption that child under age six is incapable of negligence), reversed on other grounds 104 Wn.2d 241, 704 P.2d 1181 (1985); Peters v. Skalman, 27 Wn. App. 247, 617 P.2d 448 (1980) (conclusive presumption that one spouse cannot adversely possess community property). See also Tegland, 5 Washington Practice, Evidence Law and Practice § 301.9 (6th ed.).

Park requests the Court to accept review and reverse the COA's determination that the date of mailing in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing, filed by a *pro se* litigant, is presumed to be "conclusively correct."

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant Mohammad Hamid Vida ("Vida") filed suit against Park in Snohomish County for breach of contract. The matter was subject to mandatory arbitration. On November 12, 2021, the arbitrator filed the arbitration award with the Snohomish County Clerk. The arbitrator simultaneously filed a certificate of mailing, certifying that he sent copies of the award to both parties by United States mail on November 12, 2021.<sup>6</sup>

On December 1, 2021, Vida, acting pro se, filed a Request for a Trial de Novo ("Request"). The Request included a Certificate of Mailing, which represented that Vida sent a copy

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> COA, pgs. 1-2.

of the Request via United States mail to Park's attorney on December 1, 2021.<sup>7</sup> The envelope containing the Request was actually postmarked December 4, 2021.<sup>8</sup>

Park moved to strike Vida's Request as being untimely served. The trial court granted Park's motion, striking Vida's Request.<sup>9</sup> Vida appealed.

The parties submitted briefing concerning the issues in the appeal. After briefing was complete, the COA sent an e-mail to the parties requesting they "be prepared to address the following at oral argument on March 3, 2023:"

CR 5(b)(2)(B) states, "Proof of service of all papers permitted to be mailed may be by written acknowledgement of service, by affidavit of the person who mailed the papers, or by certificate of an attorney." Is a pro se litigant an attorney for purposes of this rule?

The COA spent the entirety of the oral argument

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.*, pg. 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id*.

discussing this question.

The COA issued the Opinion on March 27, 2023. Citing to CR 5(b)(2)(B), the COA said that an Affidavit of Service or a Certificate of Mailing were "acceptable forms of proof of service:"

CR 5(b)(2)(B) provides that the acceptable forms of proof of service by mail are "written acknowledgment of service, by affidavit of the person who mailed the papers, or by certificate of an attorney." If a party files one of these forms, the date of service is deemed to be three days after the date given on the proof of service and **the presumption cannot be rebutted**. *Vanderpol v. Schotzko*, 136 Wn. App. 504, 509, 150 P.3d 120 (2007). <sup>10</sup>

The COA said that if Vida's Certificate of Mailing (with its claimed December 1, 2022 mailing date) "constituted "acceptable proof of service," then service of the Request was "timely:"

If Vida's certificate of mailing constituted acceptable proof of service under CR 5(b)(2)(B), then service is deemed complete as of December 6, 2021. **No evidence presented could refute this presumption and service** 

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Id.*, pg. 6 (emphasis added).

was therefore timely. On the other hand, if Vida's certificate of mailing does not constitute acceptable proof of service, then the only proof of service on record is the envelope displaying a postmark of December 4, 2021. If this piece of evidence controls, then service was not timely.<sup>11</sup>

The COA determined that a *pro se* litigant like Vida could file an unsworn Attorney's Certificate of Mailing under CR 5(b)(2)(B).<sup>12</sup> Based on this determination, the COA held that "Vida's certificate declaring that he mailed a copy of the request for trial de novo on December 1, 2021 constitutes adequate proof of service."<sup>13</sup> Further holding that "[n]o evidence presented could refute this presumption," the COA concluded that Vida timely served the Request.<sup>14</sup>

Park respectfully requests this Court to accept review to consider the COA's conclusion that the date of mailing in an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id.*, pg. 7 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> *Id.*, pg. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *Id.*, pg. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Id*.

Affidavit of Service or a Certificate of Mailing is presumed valid over a United States Postal Service postmark.

Further, the COA held in its Opinion that that the date of mailing stated in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing, filed by a *pro se* litigant, is presumed correct. More importantly, the COA said that this "presumption cannot be rebutted" and "[no] evidence presented could refute this presumption." Park respectfully requests this Court to accept review to consider the COA's conclusion that the date of mailing in an Affidavit of Service or a Certificate of Mailing is "conclusively presumed" to be valid and cannot be rebutted by any other evidence.

#### **V. ARGUMENT**

1. The established law in Washington has been that a "only a United States Postal Service postmark can be evidence of when an envelope was mailed." The COA's unpublished decision overrules this holding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id.*, pgs. 6-7, (emphasis added).

RAP 13.4(b)(2) states that "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: ... (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Twenty years ago, the COA held in *Corona v. Boeing Co.* that "only a United States Postal Service postmark can be evidence of when an envelope was mailed." The COA said this is because "a United States Postal Service mark cannot be applied to an envelope until that envelope is actually placed into the United States mail." The COA further held that "[t]he date of the United States Postal Service postmark shall be presumed to be the date the written communication was mailed."

The COA's current Opinion overrules *Corona*. According to the Court, the date contained in an unsworn Certificate of

<sup>16</sup> WA RAP 13.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Corona, 111 Wn. App. at 6–7 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Id.* (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id.*, 111 Wn. App. at 6 (emphasis added).

Mailing, filed by a *pro se* litigant, is presumed to be correct. This presumption cannot be challenged, even when a United States Postal Service postmark shows a different date of mailing.

Vanderpol v. Schotzko<sup>20</sup> is the only authority the COA cited in support of its decision. Respectfully, Vanderpol does not support the COA's conclusion that "no evidence presented could refute" the December 1, 2022 mailing date stated in Vida's Certificate of Mailing.

In *Vanderpol*, the defendant filed and mailed his notice of request for trial de novo on the 16<sup>th</sup> day after the arbitrator filed and served the award. However, the plaintiff did not actually receive the notice until the 21<sup>st</sup> day. The plaintiff argued that the defendant failed to comply with MAR 7.1 because actual service did not occur within the 20-day period.

<sup>20</sup> Vanderpol v. Schotzko, 136 Wn. App. 504, 509, 150 P.3d 120 (2007).

10

The court rejected this argument, noting that the plaintiff's claim was "unsupported by any authority:"

Service by mail is complete as of three days after mailing, and so the fact to be shown in the affidavit is the date of mailing. Vanderpol's argument that the presumption of completed service is rebutted if the mail takes longer than three days is unsupported by any authority.<sup>21</sup>

The court held that allowing a party to assert the actual date it received a document would render the three-day requirement in CR 5(b)(2)(A) "meaningless:"

Perhaps the presumption of completed service may be rebutted as to the fact of service, as for example where no service is ever received. But rebuttal as to the date service is "deemed complete" by evidence of actual receipt after the presumptive three days would render the "deemed complete" language in the rule meaningless.<sup>22</sup>

Relevant to our situation, the *Vanderpol* court concluded that "[t]he date of mailing is the operative fact for completion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Vanderpol, 136 Wn. App. at 508–09.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Id.* at 509 (citing *Bank of the West v. F & H Farms, L.L.C.,* 123 Wn. App. 502, 504, 98 P.3d 532 (2004)).

of mailed service, and the presumption of completion operates automatically from that date." <sup>23</sup> Vanderpol does not say the date of mailing stated in an Affidavit of Service or a Certificate of Mailing is "presumed valid" or—if a presumption does exist—that the presumption cannot be rebutted.

Park respectfully requests the Court consider the COA's decision that the date of mailing in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing filed by a pro se litigant controls over the date of a United States Postal Service postmark.

Alternatively, Park respectfully requests the Court to consider the COA's ruling that "[n]o evidence presented could refute this presumption [that the date of mailing in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing is correct],"<sup>24</sup> and remand the case to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id.*, at 510. *See Long Painting Company, Inc. v. Donkel*, 14 Wn.App.2d 582, 589, 471 P.3d 893, 897 (2020) ("There is a presumption that service **by properly postmarked mail** is complete three days after mailing.") (Emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Opinion, 7.

trial court for an evidentiary hearing to determine the actual date of mailing.

2. Park should be allowed to challenge Vida's claim that he mailed the Attorney's Certificate of Mailing on December 1, 2022.

For more than twenty years, the law in Washington has been that "only a United States Postal Service postmark can be evidence of when an envelope was mailed" and "the date of the postmark shall be presumed to be the date the written communication was mailed."<sup>25</sup>

The COA now says that the date of mailing in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing, filed by a *pro se* litigant, is presumed correct. More importantly, the COA says that this "presumption cannot be rebutted" and "[no] evidence presented could refute this presumption."<sup>26</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Corona, 111 Wn. App. at 8-7 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Id.*, pgs. 6-7. (emphasis added).

This ruling opens the door to potential fraud. "Allegations of mailing are easy to make and hard to disprove." A person submitting an Affidavit of Service or a Certificate of Mailing can include a false date of mailing, secure in the knowledge that "no evidence" can be used to challenge this date.

In our present case, Vida's Certificate of Mailing states that he mailed the Request on December 1, 2022. Vida claimed in his brief that he was "surprised" the mailing envelope was postmarked on December 4, 2022. Vida did not cite to the record to support this self-serving statement because no evidence exists; Vida never filed a declaration with the trial court on this or any other topic. Vida never filed a declaration with the trial

\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Sorrentino v. I.R.S., 383 F.3d 1187, 1194 (10th Cir. 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Appellant's Opening Brief, pg. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Washington appellate courts generally decline to consider facts recited in a brief but unsupported by the record. *Sherry v. Fin. Indem. Co.*, 160 Wn.2d 611, 615 n.1, 160 P.3d 31 (2007) (citing RAP 10.3(a)(5)); *Prasse v. VonErffa*, 13 Wn. .App.2d 1138 (2020) (unpublished).

Washington cases hold that some presumptions when challenged by contrary evidence disappear from the case and the party relying on the presumption must carry on without it.<sup>30</sup> A presumption is not evidence and its efficacy is lost when the other party adduces credible evidence to the contrary. Presumptions are the "bats of the law, flitting in the twilight but disappearing in the sunshine of actual facts."<sup>31</sup> A presumption is not evidence and its efficacy is lost when the other party adduces credible evidence to the contrary.<sup>32</sup> The sole purpose

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Chaloupka v. Cyr, 63 Wn.2d 463, 387 P.2d 740 (1963) (bailment); Sprague v. Snug Harbor Marina, 13 Wn. App. 246, 534 P.2d 583 (1975) (presumption of unseaworthiness from unexplained sinking of vessel); Tire Towne v. G & L Serv. Co., 10 Wn. App. 184, 518 P.2d 240 (1973) (presumption of ownership arising from possession).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> In re Indian Trail Trunk Sewer Sys., 35 Wn. App. 840, 843, 670 P.2d 675 (1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> In re Marriage of Akon, 160 Wn. App. 48, 62, 248 P.3d 94 (2011) (citing Bates v. Bowles White & Co., 56 Wn.2d 374, 378, 353 P.2d 663 (1960)). For example, the mailbox rule provides that the proper and timely mailing of a document raises a **rebuttable** presumption that the document has been received by the addressee in the usual time. Olson v. The Bon, Inc., 144 Wn. App. 627, 634, 183 P.3d 359, 363 (2008). The presumption of receipt permitted under the common law mailbox rule is not invoked lightly and requires proof of mailing, such as an independent proof of a postmark, a dated receipt, or evidence of mailing apart from a party's own self-serving

of a presumption is to establish which party has the burden of going forward with evidence on an issue.<sup>33</sup>

The COA's Opinion does not explain why the claimed mailing date in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing "cannot be rebutted." Park respectfully requests the Court consider this decision and remand the matter to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing to determine the actual date of mailing.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

RAP 13.4(b)(2) states that "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: ... (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.<sup>34</sup>

In its Opinion, the Court held that the date of mailing stated in a *pro se* litigant's unsworn Attorney's Certificate of

testimony. *Id.* at 634 (citing *Sorrentino*, 383 F.3d at 1191. *See City v. Bohon*, 194 Wn. App. 1028 (2016) (unpublished).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> In re Indian Trail, 35 Wn. App. at 843.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> WA RAP 13.4.

Mailing controls over the date stated in a United States Postal Service postmark.<sup>35</sup> The Court's ruling conflicts with the COA's published decision in *Corona v. Boeing Co.*, where the COA held that "only a United States Postal Service postmark can be evidence of when an envelope was mailed."<sup>36</sup>

Park requests the Court to accept review of this case and determine whether the date of mailing stated in an Attorney's Certificate of Mailing or in a Certificate of Service controls over the date of mailing contained in a United States Postal Service postmark.

The COA held in its Opinion that that the date of mailing in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing, filed by a *pro se* litigant, is presumed correct. More importantly, the COA said that this "presumption cannot be rebutted" and "[no] evidence

<sup>35</sup> COA's Opinion, pg. 7.

<sup>36</sup> Corona, 111 Wn. App. at 6–7 (emphasis added).

presented could refute this presumption."<sup>37</sup> The COA did not cite any legal authority to support this "conclusive presumption."

Park requests the Court to accept review and reverse the COA's determination that the date of mailing in an unsworn Certificate of Mailing, filed by a *pro se* litigant, is presumed to be "conclusively correct."