FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/26/2023 4:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1020236

THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MOHAMMAD HAMID VIDA,

Appellant,

v.

YONG PARK & SANG PARK,

Respondents.

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I Case Number: 83831-8-1

SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

Cause Number: 21-2-01143-31

APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

Edward C. Chung, Esq. WSBA # 34292 Attorney for Appellant

CHUNG, MALHAS & MANTEL, PLLC 1037 NE 65th Street, Suite 80171 Seattle, Washington 98115

Phone: (206) 264-8999 ◆ Facsimile: (206) 264-9098

E-mail: Echung@cmmlawfirm.com ♦ Website: www.cmmlawfirm.com

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Parties in the above captioned matter engaged in litigation before the Snohomish County Superior Court. Per Washington State's Mandatory Arbitration Rules ("MAR") and RCW 7.06 the Appellant, Mr. Mohammad Hamid Vida (hereinafter referred to as Mr. Vida) and Respondents, Yong Park and Sang Park (hereinafter referred to as the "Parks") were assigned to arbitration. On November 12, 2021 the arbitrator, *via* U.S. Fist Class Mail, filed and served his arbitral award ruling with the Snohomish County Superior Court and upon the parties' respective counsel of record.

Under Washington State Supreme Court precedent, *Seto v. Am. Elevator, Inc.*, 159 Wn. 2d 767 (Wash. 2007), held that "The 20–day period for requesting a *trial de novo* does not begin until proof of completed service is filed, along with the award. When service is by U.S. mail, service is *presumed* to be complete on the third day of delivery. *See*, CR 6. Mr. Vida, representing himself *pro se*, filed an affidavit with his Petition for Trial De Novo attesting that mailing was made on December 1, 2021 complied with this timeline despite it being post-marked at a later date by the U.S. Post Office. That aside, the Parks argue untimely service because it had a post mark stamp of December 4, 2021.

However, this argument, adopted by the lower court, is erroneous in consideration that actual service, as opposed to mere presumption, was timely received by the Parks' counsel of record on Monday, December 6, 2021. *See*, CP #42, Kallenbach Declaration at 5. ["My office actually received the Request on the afternoon of December 6, 2021."]. In other words, even assuming that there was a postmark stamp of Saturday, December 4, 2021,

Defendants actually received the notice of trial de novo within the procedural timeframe.

The Superior Court in denying Appellant's *Petition for Trial De Novo* was briefed and applied the wrong Mandatory Arbitration Rules from 2007. The Superior Court Mandatory Arbitration Rules were renamed the Superior Court Civil Arbitration Rules effective December 3, 2019. *See*, Official Advance Sheet No. 3, Dec. 3, 2019. SCCAR 7.1 was amended effective December 3, 2019. In consideration of the foregoing, Mr. Vida had strictly and substantially complied in both timely filing and timely serving his Request for Trial De Novo wherein this matter should be remanded back to the trial court for trial setting.

Respondent's briefing relies on *Corona v. Boeing Co.*, 111 Wn. App. 1, 6–7, 46 P.3d 253, 256 (2002), a case that does not even apply Superior Court Civil Arbitration Rules. Ergo, the Respondent's argument may disregarded and disposed of as meritless especially since such non-applicable precedent existed prior to the Superior Court Civil Arbitration Rules.

//

//

//

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT THE LOWER COURT ERRORED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CASE FOR A PURPORTED UNTIMELY SERVICE OF A PETITION FOR TRIAL DE NOVO BECAUSE AS THE RECORD REFLECTS ON APPEAL AND RESPONDENTS CONCEDE IN THEIR BRIEFING, IT ERROENOUSLY APPLIED MANDATORY ARBITRATION RULE 7.1 FROM 2011. THOSE RULES ARE NO APPLICABLE AS THE LONGER **SUPERIOR** MANDATORY ARBITRATION RULES WERE RENAMED THE SUPERIOR COURT CIVIL ARBITRATION RULES EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 3, 2019 AND AMENDED WHEREIN A REQUEST FOR TRIAL DE NOVO IS TIMELY OF FILED "OR" SERVED BEFORE THE 20 DAY PERIOD.

The Court of Appeals reversal was proper. Error by the Snohomish County Superior Court is both clear and unequivocal from the appellate record and from Respondents' briefing. The Superior Court Mandatory Arbitration Rules were renamed the Superior Court Civil Arbitration Rules effective December 3, 2019. *See*, Official Advance Sheet No. 3, Dec. 3, 2019. SCCAR 7.1 was amended effective December 3, 2019 as part of a large packet of amendments to what was then the MARs. *Id.*; Elizabeth A. Turner, *Washington Practice: Request for Trial de Novo* § 8, (8th ed. 2021). SCCAR 7.1, unlike MAR 7.1 provides:

"(a) Service and Filing. Any aggrieved party not having waived the right to appeal may request a trial de novo in the superior court. Any request for a trial de novo must be filed with the clerk and served, in accordance with CR 5, upon all other parties appearing in the case within 20 days after the arbitrator files proof of service

of the later of: (1) the award or (2) a decision on a timely request for costs or attorney fees. A request for a trial de novo is timely filed <u>OR</u> served if it is filed <u>OR</u> served after the award is announced but before the 20-day period begins to run. The 20-day period within which to request a trial de novo may not be extended.

Id., *emphasis* added.

The prior and obsolete language of MAR 7.1 that both the lower court and Respondent relied upon reads:

Any request for a trial de novo must be filed with the clerk and served, in accordance with CR 5, upon all other parties appearing in the case within 20 days after the arbitrator files proof of service of the later of: (1) the award or (2) a decision on a timely request for costs or attorney fees.

While the application of the wrong governing law in itself raises due process concerns, more importantly for the case at bar is that it is undisputed that Appellant timely filed a Petition for Trial De Novo. Ergo, under SCCAR 7.1 when Appellant *timely filed* a Petition for Trial De Novo, he strictly complied with SCCAR 7.1 and effectively preserved jurisdiction of the superior court to move forward with a trial on the merits. Again, the language reads, "a request for a trial de novo is timely filed <u>OR</u> served if it is filed <u>OR</u> served after the award is announced but before the 20-day period begins to run. In short, Appellant complied with the letter of the law and this matter must be remanded to the lower court with an order to set a trial on the merits.

As previously briefed, SCCAR 7.1 does not mandate filing and service to preserve a request for trial de novo. That being said, Appellant filed a Request for Trial de Novo on December 1, 2021 wherein filing and service was satisfied. In consideration of SCCAR 7.1 amended language, as well as the fact that he filed a certificate of mailing, trial de novo filing and service was strictly complied with. This is predicated, in part on the express language contained in CR 5, as well as prior Washington State appellate authority. Turning to CR 5 (b) it states, in part the following:

(B) **Proof of service by mail**. Proof of service of all papers permitted to be mailed may be by written acknowledgment of service, by affidavit of the person who mailed the papers...

In the instant case, Snohomish County Superior Court Form² Requesting a Trial De Novo contains such affidavit by the aggrieved party requesting for trial de novo. In Carpenter v. Elway, 97 Wash.App. 977, 987 n. 4 (1999) review denied, 141 Wash.2d 1005, 10 P.3d 403 (2000), that "CR 5(b)(2)(B) requires proof of service by mail in the form of a signed certificate of mailing." CR 5(b)(2)(B) enumerates three forms of proof of service: (1) written acknowledgement of service; (2) an affidavit of the person who mailed the papers; or (3) a certificate of an attorney.

² *Id*.

¹ CP 35

Here, this Court held the second form-an affidavit (a sworn "certificate") sufficed. *See*, *Manius v. Boyd*, 111 Wash.App. 764 (2002); *see also*, *Terry v. City of Tacoma*, 109 Wn. App. 448 (2001).

Unless this Court engaged in reconstructive surgery of the procedural language, it is clear that the lower court errored and that the order of dismissal should be vacated and order issued to the lower court remanding that this case proceed forward with trial on the merits.

B. ASIDE FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT AND RESPONDENTS APPLYING THE WRONG RULES GOVERNING ARBITRATION IN WASHINGTON STATE SUPERIOR COURTS, THE RESPONDENTS REPLIANCE ON *CORONA V. BOEING CO.*, 111 WN. APP. 1, 6–7, 46 P.3D 253, 256 (2002) IS MISPLACED AND DOES NOT PROVIDE COMPELLING GROUNDS FOR THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT TO GRANT REVIEW.

Respondent's briefing relies on *Corona v. Boeing Co.*, 111 Wn. App. 1, 6–7, 46 P.3d 253, 256 (2002), a case that does not even apply Superior Court Civil Arbitration Rules. Ergo, the Respondent's argument may disregarded and disposed of as meritless especially since such non-applicable precedent existed prior to the Superior Court Civil Arbitration Rules.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the evidence contained within the court record, Appellant respectfully asks that this matter be remanded back to the trial court and the case be set for trial on the merits.

Pursuant to RAP 18.17 undersigned counsel certifies that the foregoing contains 1150 words (excluding Appendices; Title Sheet/Caption; Table of Contents/Authorities; Certificates of Compliance/Service; Signature Blocks; and Pictorial Images/Exhibits) in compliance with the Court of Appeal word limit and that Appellant respectfully submitted this Corrected Reply Brief on this 26th day of June 2023.